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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Bank First Corporation

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Bank First Corporation and
Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated
statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial
statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits.
We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financialstatements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.

Atlanta, Georgia
March 16, 2022

F-2



Bank First Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31
2021 2020

(In Thousands, except share and per share data)
Assets

Cash and due from banks $ 29,171 $ 36,255
Interest-bearing deposits 267,689 133,964

Cash and cash equivalents 296,860 170,219
Securities held to maturity, at amortized cost ($5,922 and

$6,688 fair value at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively) 5,911 6,669

Securities available for sale, at fair value 212,689 165,039
Loans held for sale 786 809
Loans, net 2,215,199 2,173,802
Premises and equipment, net 49,461 43,183
Goodwill 55,357 55,472
Other investments 9,004 8,896
Cash value of life insurance 31,897 31,394
Core deposit intangibles, net 4,035 5,441
Mortgage Servicing Rights (“MSR”) 5,016 3,726
Other real estate owned (“OREO”) 150 1,885
Investment in minority-owned subsidiaries 42,935 42,278
Other assets 8,252 9,203
TOTAL ASSETS $2,937,552 $2,718,016

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Liabilities:

Deposits:
Interest-bearing deposits $1,728,504 $1,605,317
Noninterest-bearing deposits 799,936 715,646

Total deposits 2,528,440 2,320,963
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 41,122 36,377
Notes payable 8,011 23,469
Subordinated notes 17,500 17,500
Other liabilities 19,826 24,850

Total liabilities 2,614,899 2,423,159
Stockholders’ equity:

Serial preferred stock - $0.01 par value
Authorized - 5,000,000 shares — —

Common stock - $0.01 par value
Authorized - 20,000,000 shares

Issued - 8,478,383 shares as of December 31, 2021
and 2020

Outstanding - 7,616,540 and 7,709,497 shares as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively 85 85

Additional paid-in capital 93,149 92,847
Retained earnings 258,104 221,393
Treasury stock, at cost - 861,843 and 768,886 shares as

of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively (32,294) (25,227)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,609 5,759

Total stockholders’ equity 322,653 294,857
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $2,937,552 $2,718,016

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Bank First Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31
2021 2020 2019

(In Thousands, except per share amounts)
Interest income:

Loans, including fees $93,422 $ 95,273 $82,939
Securities:

Taxable 2,788 3,358 3,134
Tax-exempt 1,866 1,888 1,662

Other 310 181 1,430
Total interest income 98,386 100,700 89,165

Interest expense:
Deposits 7,527 12,473 17,875
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 10 114 461
Borrowed funds 767 1,278 1,162

Total interest expense 8,304 13,865 19,498
Net interest income 90,082 86,835 69,667
Provision for loan losses 3,100 7,125 5,250
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 86,982 79,710 64,417
Noninterest income:

Service charges 6,128 5,003 3,506
Income from Ansay and Associates, LLC (“Ansay”) 2,587 2,740 1,792
Income from UFS, LLC (“UFS”) 2,556 3,066 2,935
Loan servicing income 3,839 1,420 550
Net gain on sales of mortgage loans 7,371 5,310 1,401
Net (loss) gain on sales of securities (3) 3,233 634
Net gain on sale of other investments — — 234
Other 1,040 2,748 1,580

Total noninterest income 23,518 23,520 12,632
Noninterest expense:

Salaries, commissions, and employee benefits 28,515 27,273 22,903
Occupancy 4,198 4,719 3,860
Data processing 5,344 5,515 4,509
Postage, stationery, and supplies 713 872 591
Net (gain) loss on sales and valuations of OREO (20) 1,395 (73)
Advertising 227 226 268
Charitable contributions 534 574 566
Outside service fees 3,076 4,112 3,041
Amortization of intangibles 1,405 1,636 1,069
Penalty for early extinguishment of debt — 1,323 —
Other 6,541 5,708 6,026

Total noninterest expense 50,533 53,353 42,760
Income before provision for income taxes 59,967 49,877 34,289
Provision for income taxes 14,523 11,831 7,595
Net Income $45,444 $ 38,046 $26,694

Earnings per share - basic $ 5.92 $ 5.07 $ 3.91

Earnings per share - diluted $ 5.92 $ 5.07 $ 3.87

Dividends per share $ 1.14 $ 0.81 $ 0.80

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Bank First Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Years Ended December 31
2021 2020 2019

(In Thousands)
Net Income $45,444 $38,046 $26,694
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Unrealized (losses) gains on available for sale securities:
Unrealized holding (losses) gains arising during period (2,946) 7,987 4,378
Amortization of unrealized holding gains on securities transferred from

available for sale to held to maturity (2) (102) (44)
Reclassification adjustment for losses (gains) included in net income 3 (3,233) (634)
Income tax benefit (expense) 795 (1,387) (840)

Total other comprehensive (loss) income (2,150) 3,265 2,860
Comprehensive income $43,294 $41,311 $29,554

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Bank First Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Serial
Preferred
Stock

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (loss)

Total
Stockholders’

Equity

(In Thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ — $74 $27,601 $168,363 $(21,349) $ (366) $174,323

Net income — — — 26,694 — — 26,694
Change in accounting principle

in unconsolidated subsidiary — — — (100) — — (100)
Other comprehensive income — — — — — 2,860 2,860
Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (4,205) — (4,205)
Issuance of treasury stock as

deferred compensation
payout — — 26 — 88 — 114

Shares issued in the acquisition
of Partnership Community
Bancshares, Inc. (534,659
shares) — 5 35,298 — — — 35,303

Cash dividends ($0.80 per share) — — — (5,463) — — (5,463)
Amortization of stock-based

compensation — — 685 — — — 685
Vesting of restricted stock

awards — — (525) — 525 — —
Balance at December 31, 2019 — 79 63,085 189,494 (24,941) 2,494 230,211

Net income — — — 38,046 — — 38,046
Other comprehensive income — — — — — 3,265 3,265
Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (4,367) — (4,367)
Sale of treasury stock — — — — 19 — 19
Issuance of treasury stock as

deferred compensation
payout — — — — 3,368 — 3,368

Cash dividends ($0.81 per share) — — — (6,147) — — (6,147)
Amortization of stock-based

compensation — — 1,081 — — — 1,081
Vesting of restricted stock

awards — — (694) — 694 — —
Shares issued in the acquisition

of Tomah Bancshares, Inc.
(575,641 shares) — 6 29,375 — — — 29,381

Balance at December 31, 2020 — 85 92,847 221,393 (25,227) 5,759 294,857
Net income — — — 45,444 — — 45,444
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — (2,150) (2,150)
Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (8,272) — (8,272)
Sale of treasury stock — — — — 114 — 114
Cash dividends ($1.14 per share) — — — (8,733) — — (8,733)
Amortization of stock-based

compensation — — 1,393 — — — 1,393
Vesting of restricted stock

awards — — (1,091) — 1,091 — —
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ — $85 $93,149 $258,104 $(32,294) $ 3,609 $322,653

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Bank First Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31
2021 2020 2019

(In Thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 45,444 $ 38,046 $ 26,694
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating

activities:
Provision for loan losses 3,100 7,125 5,250
Depreciation and amortization of premises and equipment 1,780 1,536 1,273
Amortization of intangibles 1,405 1,636 1,069
Net amortization of securities 807 689 388
Amortization of stock-based compensation 1,393 1,081 685
Accretion of purchase accounting valuations (1,947) (5,473) (7,077)
Net change in deferred loan fees and costs (1,208) 2,417 (216)
(Benefit) expense for deferred income taxes (1) (116) 856
Change in fair value of MSR and other investments 465 2,262 775
(Gain) loss from sale and disposal of premises and equipment (37) 178 23
(Gain) loss on sale of OREO and valuation allowance (20) 1,395 (73)
Proceeds from sales of mortgage loans 295,904 215,903 86,057
Originations of mortgage loans held for sale (290,372) (212,190) (85,983)
Gain on sales of mortgage loans (7,371) (5,310) (1,401)
Realized (gain) loss on sale of securities available for sale and other

investments 3 (3,233) (868)
Undistributed income of UFS joint venture (2,556) (3,066) (2,935)
Undistributed income of Ansay joint venture (2,587) (2,740) (1,792)
Net earnings on life insurance (768) (741) (625)
Decrease (increase) in other assets 1,862 (1,876) (720)
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities (5,013) 6,440 1,268

Net cash provided by operating activities 40,283 43,963 22,648
Cash flows from investing activities, net of effects of business combination:

Activity in securities available for sale and held to maturity:
Sales 9,087 59,697 45,506
Maturities, prepayments, and calls 34,033 73,524 13,364
Purchases (93,767) (28,764) (103,848)

Net increase in loans (41,713) (343,581) (36,496)
Dividends received from UFS 2,646 2,103 2,108
Dividends received from Ansay 1,840 1,712 1,329
Proceeds from sale of OREO 1,893 5,472 1,704
Proceeds from sales of other investments — — 984
Net purchases of Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) stock — (640) (65)
Net purchases of Federal Reserve Bank (“FRB”) stock — (2,760) —
Proceeds from life insurance 265 — —
Proceeds from sale of premises and equipment 548 284 —
Purchases of premises and equipment (8,718) (8,371) (7,268)
Investment in Ansay — — (13,700)
Net cash received (used) in business combination — 35,296 (9,771)

Net cash used in investing activities (93,886) (206,028) (106,153)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Bank First Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - (continued)

Years Ended December 31
2021 2020 2019

(In Thousands)
Cash flows from financing activities, net of effects of business combination:

Net increase in deposits $207,770 $ 307,032 $ 17,506
Net (decrease) increase in securities sold under repurchase agreements 4,745 (10,305) 14,376
Proceeds from advances of notes payable 5,000 88,000 44,000
Repayment of notes payable (20,380) (127,400) (4,000)
Proceeds from subordinated debt — 6,000 —
Repayment of subordinated debt — (7,000) —
Dividends paid (8,733) (6,147) (5,463)
Proceeds from sales of common stock 114 19 —
Repurchase of common stock (8,272) (4,367) (4,205)

Net cash provided by financing activities 180,244 245,832 62,214
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 126,641 83,767 (21,291)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 170,219 86,452 107,743
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $296,860 $ 170,219 $ 86,452

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 7,064 $ 14,972 $ 18,938
Income taxes 16,760 10,181 6,677

Supplemental schedule of noncash activities:
Loans transferred to OREO — 1,892 4,927
Closed branch building transferred to OREO 140 — —
MSR resulting from sale of loans 1,862 1,375 740
Amortization of unrealized holding gains on securities transferred from

available for sale to held to maturity recognized in other
comprehensive income, net of tax (2) (81) (35)

Change in unrealized gains and losses on investment securities available
for sale, net of tax (2,148) 3,346 2,895

Payment of deferred compensation through issuance of treasury stock — 3,368 114
Initial recognition of right-of-use lease asset and liability — — 1,699
Cancellation of subordinated debt issued to acquired institution — — 6,500

Acquisition:
Fair value of assets acquired $ — $ 209,918 $307,768
Fair value of liabilities assumed — 191,701 286,612
Net assets acquired $ — $ 18,217 $ 21,156

Common stock issued in acquisition $ — $ 29,381 $ 35,303

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Bank First Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting and reporting policies of Bank First Corporation and Subsidiaries (“Corporation”)
conform to generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) in the United States and general
practices within the financial institution industry. Significant accounting and reporting policies are
summarized below.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its wholly
owned subsidiaries, Veritas Asset Holdings, LLC (“Veritas”) and Bank First, National Association
(“Bank”). The Bank’s wholly owned subsidiaries are Bank First Investments, Inc., TVG Holdings, Inc.
(“TVG”) and BFC Title LLC. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated. The Bank and TVG have investments in minority-owned subsidiaries that are
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements. The Bank owns
49.8% of UFS which provides data processing solutions to over 60 banks in the Midwest. TVG owns
40.0% of Ansay providing clients throughout the Midwest with superior insurance and risk
management solutions.

Organization
The Corporation provides a variety of financial services to individual and business customers,
primarily located in Wisconsin, through the Bank. The Bank is subject to competition from other
traditional and nontraditional financial institutions and is also subjectone to the regulations of
certain federal agencies and undergoes periodic examinations by those regulatory authorities
including the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and the Federal Reserve Bank.

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements
The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with
GAAP in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The allowance for loan losses,
carrying value of real estate owned, carrying value of goodwill, fair value of mortgage servicing
rights, and fair values of financial instruments are inherently subjective and are susceptible to
significant change.

Business Combinations
The Corporation accounts for business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting
in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 805, Business Combinations. The Corporation recognizes the full fair value of
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and immediately expenses transaction costs. There is
no separate recognition of the acquired allowance for loan losses on the acquirer’s balance
sheet as credit related factors are incorporated directly into the fair value of the net tangible and
intangible assets acquired. If the amount of consideration exceeds the fair value of assets
purchased less the fair value of liabilities assumed, goodwill is recorded. Alternatively, if the
amount by which the fair value of assets purchased exceeds the fair value of liabilities assumed
and consideration paid, a gain (bargain purchase gain) is recorded. Fair values are subject to
refinement for up to one year after the closing date of an acquisition as information relative to
closing date fair values becomes available. Results of operations of the acquired business are
included in the statement of income from the effective date of the acquisition. Additional
information regarding acquisitions is provided in Note 2.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of reporting cash flows in the consolidated financial statements, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, interest-bearing and noninterest-bearing accounts in other
financial institutions, and federal funds sold, all of which have original maturities of three months
or less. Generally, federal funds are purchased and sold for one day periods. In the normal course
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of business, the Corporation maintains cash and due from bank balances with correspondent
banks. Accounts at each institution that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
have up to $250,000 of insurance. Total uninsured balances held at December 31, 2021 and 2020
were approximately $992,000 and $5,284,000, respectively. The Bank is required to maintain
deposits on hand or with the FRB to meet specific reserve requirements. During 2021 and 2020, in
response to liquidity concerns resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID”), this reserve
requirement was reduced to zero by the FRB.

Securities
Securities are classified as held to maturity or available for sale at the time of purchase.
Investment securities classified as held to maturity, which management has the intent and ability
to hold to maturity, are reported at amortized cost. Investment securities classified as available
for sale, which management has the intent and ability to hold for an indefinite period of time, but
not necessarily to maturity, are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of
related deferred income taxes, included in stockholders’ equity as a separate component of
other comprehensive income.

The net carrying value of debt securities classified as held to maturity or available for sale is
adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts utilizing the effective interest
method over the expected estimated maturity. Such amortization and accretion is included as
an adjustment to interest income from securities. Interest and dividends are included in interest
income from securities.

Transfers of debt securities into the held to maturity classification from the available for sale
classification are made at fair value as of the date of transfer. The unrealized holding gain or loss
as of the date of transfer is retained in other comprehensive income and in the carrying value of
the held to maturity securities, establishing the amortized cost of the security. These unrealized
holding gains and losses as of the date of transfer are amortized or accreted over the remaining
life of the security.

Unrealized gains or losses considered temporary and the noncredit portion of unrealized losses
deemed other-than-temporary are reported as an increase or decrease in accumulated other
comprehensive income. The credit related portion of unrealized losses deemed
other-than-temporary is recorded in current period earnings. Realized gains or losses, determined
on the basis of the cost of specific securities sold, are included in earnings. The Bank evaluates
securities for other-than-temporary impairment at least on a quarterly basis, and more frequently
when economic or market concerns warrant such evaluation. As part of such monitoring, the
credit quality of individual securities and their issuers are assessed. In addition, management
considers the length of time and extent that fair value has been less than cost, the financial
condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, and that the Corporation does not have the
intent to sell the security and it is more likely than not that it will not have to sell the security before
recovery of its cost basis. Adjustments to market value that are considered temporary are
recorded as a separate component of equity, net of tax. If an impairment of security is identified
as other-than-temporary based on information available such as the decline in the credit
worthiness of the issuer, external market ratings or the anticipated or realized elimination of
associated dividends, such impairments are further analyzed to determine if a credit loss exists. If
there is a credit loss, it will be recorded in the consolidated statement of income in the period of
identification.

Other Investments
Other investments are carried at cost, or, where available, recently observable market prices,
which approximates fair value, and consist of FHLB stock, FRB stock, Bankers’ Bancorporation
stock and preferred stock in a community development project (sold during 2021). Other
investments are evaluated for impairment at least on an annual basis.

Loans Held for Sale
Loans originated and intended for sale in the secondary market, consisting of the current
origination of certain fixed-rate mortgage loans, are carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair
value in the aggregate. A gain or loss is recognized at the time of the sale reflecting the present
value of the difference between the contractual interest rate of the loans sold and the yield to
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the investor, adjusted for the initial value of mortgage servicing rights associated with loans sold
with servicing retained. Net unrealized losses, if any, are recorded as a valuation allowance and
charged to earnings.

Loans and Related Interest Income - Originated
Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until
maturity or payoffs are generally reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances
adjusted for charge-offs and the allowance for loan losses. The accrual of interest on loans is
calculated using the simple interest method on daily balances of the principal amount
outstanding and is recognized in the period earned utilizing the loan convention applicable by
loan type. Loan origination fees, net of certain direct loan origination costs, are deferred and
recognized in interest income using the effective interest method over the estimated life of the
loan.

The accrual of interest is discontinued when a loan becomes 90 days past due and is not both
well collateralized and in the process of collection, or when management believes, after
considering economic and business conditions and collection efforts, that the principal or interest
will not be collectible in the normal course of business. When loans are placed on nonaccrual or
charged off, all unpaid accrued interest is reversed and additional income is recorded only to the
extent that payments are received and the collection of principal is reasonably assured. Loans
are returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are
brought current, when the obligation has performed in accordance with the contractual terms
for a reasonable period of time, and future payments of principal and interest are reasonably
assured. Loans are considered impaired if it is probable that payment of interest and principal will
not be made in accordance with the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Total impaired
loans are evaluated based on the fair value of the collateral rather than on discounted cash flow
basis.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the CARES Act was signed into law. Under the CARES Act,
banks may elect to deem that loan modifications do not result in troubled debt restructurings
(“TDRs”) if they are (1) related to COVID-19; (2) executed on a loan that was not more than
30 days past due as of December 31, 2019; and (3) executed between March 1, 2020 and the
earlier of (A) 60 days after the date of termination of the national emergency declaration or
(B) January 1, 2022. Additionally, in accordance with the lnteragency Statement on Loan
Modifications and Reporting for Financial Institutions Working with Customers Affected by the
Coronavirus (Revised), other short-term modifications made on a good faith basis in response to
COVID-19 to borrowers who were current prior to any relief are not TDRs under ASC Subtopic
310-40. This includes short-term (e.g. up to six months) modifications such as payment deferrals,
fee waivers, extensions of repayment terms, or delays in payment that are insignificant. Borrowers
considered current are those that are less than 30 days past due on their contractual payments
at the time a modification program is implemented . Loans modified under this guidance are not
considered TDRs.

Loans and Related Interest Income - Acquired
Acquired loans are recorded at their estimated fair value at the acquisition date, and are initially
classified as either purchase credit impaired (“PCI”) loans (i.e. loans that reflect credit
deterioration since origination and it is probable at acquisition that the Corporation will be unable
to collect all contractually required payments) or purchased non-impaired loans (i.e. performing
acquired loans).

PCI loans are accounted for under the accounting guidance for loans and debt securities
acquired with deteriorated credit quality, found in FASB ASC Topic 310-30, Receivables—Loans
and Debt Securities Acquired with Deteriorated Credit Quality. The Corporation estimates the
amount and timing of expected principal, interest and other cash flows for each loan or pool of
loans meeting the criteria above, and determines the excess of the loan’s scheduled contractual
principal and contractual interest payments over all cash flows expected to be collected at
acquisition as an amount that should not be accreted. These credit discounts (nonaccretable
marks) are included in the determination of the initial fair value for acquired loans; therefore, an
allowance for loan losses is not recorded at the acquisition date. Differences between the
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estimated fair values and expected cash flows of acquired loans at the acquisition date that are
not credit-based (accretable marks) are subsequently accreted to interest income over the
estimated life of the loans using a method that approximates a level yield method if the timing
and amount of the future cash flows is reasonably estimable. Subsequent to the acquisition date
for PCI loans, increases in cash flows over those expected at the acquisition date result in a move
of the discount from nonaccretable to accretable. Decreases in expected cash flows after the
acquisition date are recognized through the provision for loan losses.

Performing acquired loans are accounted for under FASB ASC Topic 310-20, Receivables—
Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs. Performance of certain loans may be monitored and
based on management’s assessment of the cash flows and other facts available, portions of the
accretable difference may be delayed or suspended if management deems appropriate. The
Corporation’s policy for determining when to discontinue accruing interest on performing
acquired loans and the subsequent accounting for such loans is essentially the same as the policy
for originated loans described above.

Allowance for Loan Losses - Originated
The allowance for loan losses (“ALL”) is established through a provision for loan losses charged to
expense as losses are estimated to have occurred. Loan losses are charged against the
allowance when management believes that the collectability of the principal is unlikely.
Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance.

Management regularly evaluates the allowance for loan losses using general economic
conditions, the Corporation’s past loan loss experience, composition of the portfolio, and other
relevant factors. This evaluation is inherently subjective since it requires material estimates that
may be susceptible to significant change.

The ALL consists of specific reserves for certain impaired loans and general reserves for
non-impaired loans. Specific reserves reflect estimated losses on impaired loans from
management’s analyses developed through specific credit allocations. The specific credit
reserves are based on regular analyses of impaired non-homogenous loans greater than
$250,000. These analyses involve a high degree of judgment in estimating the amount of loss
associated with specific loans, including estimating the amount and timing of future cash flows
and collateral values. The general reserve is based on the Bank’s historical loss experience which
is updated quarterly. The general reserve portion of the ALL also includes consideration of certain
qualitative factors such as 1) changes in lending policies and/or underwriting practices, 2)
national and local economic conditions 3) changes in portfolio volume and nature, 4)
experience, ability and depth of lending management and other relevant staff, 5) levels of and
trends in past-due and nonaccrual loans and quality, 6) changes in loan review and oversight, 7)
impact and effects of concentrations and 8) other issues deemed relevant.

Management believes that the allowance for loan losses is adequate. While management uses
available information to recognize losses on loans, future additions to the allowance may be
necessary based on changes in economic conditions. In addition, various regulatory agencies,
as an integral part of their examination process, periodically review the allowance for loan losses.
Such agencies may require the Bank to recognize additions to the allowance based on their
judgments of information available to them at the time of their examination.

Allowance for Loan Losses - Acquired
An ALL is calculated using a methodology similar to that described for originated loans.
Performing acquired loans are subsequently evaluated for any required allowance at each
reporting date. Such required allowance for each loan pool is compared to the remaining fair
value discount for that pool. If greater, the excess is recognized as an addition to the allowance
through a provision for loan losses. If less than the discount, no additional allowance is recorded.
Charge-offs and losses first reduce any remaining fair value discount for the loan pool and once
the discount is depleted, losses are applied against the allowance established for that pool.

For PCI loans after acquisition, cash flows expected to be collected are recast for each loan
periodically as determined appropriate by management. If the present value of expected cash
flows for a loan is less than its carrying value, impairment is reflected by an increase in the ALL and
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a charge to the provision for loan losses. If the present value of the expected cash flows for a loan
is greater than its carrying value, any previously established ALL is reversed and any remaining
difference increases the accretable yield which will be taken into income over the remaining life
of the loan. Loans which were considered troubled debt restructurings by an acquired institution
prior to the acquisition are not required to be classified as troubled debt restructurings in the
Corporation’s consolidated financial statements unless or until such loans would subsequently
meet criteria to be classified as such, since acquired loans were recorded at their estimated fair
values at the time of the acquisition.

Premises and Equipment
Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation computed on the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Premises and equipment
acquired in corporate acquisitions are recorded at estimated fair value on the date of
acquisition. Maintenance and repair costs are charged to expense as incurred. Gains or losses on
disposition of premises and equipment are reflected in income. Premises and equipment, and
other long-term assets, are reviewed for impairment when events indicate their carrying amount
may not be recoverable from future undiscounted cash flows. If impaired, the assets are recorded
at fair value.

Depreciation expense is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated
useful lives.

Buildings and improvements 40 years

Land improvements 20 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 2-7 years

Other Real Estate Owned
Assets acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure are held for sale and are initially recorded
at fair value at the date of foreclosure less estimated costs to sell the asset, establishing a new cost
basis. Any write downs at the time of foreclosure are charged to the allowance for loan loss.
OREO properties acquired in conjunction with corporate acquisitions are recorded at fair value
on the date of acquisition. Subsequent to foreclosure, valuations are periodically performed by
management, and a valuation allowance is established if fair value declines below carrying
value. Costs relating to the development and improvement of the property are capitalized.
Revenue and expenses from operations and changes in the valuation allowance are included in
other expenses.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Intangible assets consist of the value of core deposits, mortgage servicing assets and the excess
of purchase price over fair value of net assets (goodwill). Core deposits are stated at cost less
accumulated amortization and are amortized on a sum of the year’s digits basis over a period of
one to ten years. See Note 2 for additional information on acquisitions completed in 2020 and
2019.

Mortgage servicing rights are recognized as separate assets when rights are acquired through
purchase or through sale of mortgage loans with servicing retained. Servicing rights acquired
through sale of financial assets are recorded based on the fair value of the servicing right. The
determination of fair value is based on a valuation model and includes stratifying the mortgage
servicing rights by predominant characteristics, such as interest rates and terms, and estimating
the fair value of each stratum based on the present value of estimated future net servicing
income. The valuation model incorporates assumptions that market participants would use in
estimating future net servicing income, such as costs to service, a discount rate, and prepayment
speeds. Changes in fair value are recorded as an adjustment to earnings.

The Corporation performs a “qualitative” assessment of goodwill to determine whether further
impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets is necessary on at least an annual basis. If
it is determined, as a result of performing a qualitative assessment over goodwill, that it is more
likely than not that goodwill is impaired, management will perform an impairment test to
determine if the carrying value of goodwill is realizable.
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The Corporation evaluated goodwill and core deposit intangibles for impairment during 2021,
2020 and 2019, determining that there was no goodwill or core deposit intangible impairment.

Income Taxes
The Corporation files one consolidated federal income tax return and two state returns. Federal
income tax expense is allocated to each subsidiary based on an intercompany tax sharing
agreement.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been determined using the liability method. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement
and tax bases of assets and liabilities and the current enacted tax rates which will be in effect
when these differences are expected to reverse. Provision (benefit) for deferred taxes is the result
of changes in the deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Treasury Stock
Common stock shares repurchased by the Corporation are recorded as treasury stock at cost.

Securities Sold Under Repurchase Agreements
The Corporation sells securities under repurchase agreements. These transactions are accounted
for as collateralized financing transactions and are recorded at the amounts at which the
securities were sold. The Corporation may have to provide additional collateral to the
counterparty, as necessary.

Off-Balance-Sheet Financial Instruments
In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation has entered into off-balance-sheet financial
instruments including commitments to extend credit, unfunded commitments under lines of credit,
and letters of credit. Such financial instruments are recorded in the consolidated financial
statements when they are funded.

Advertising
Advertising costs are generally expensed as incurred.

Per Share Computations
Weighted average shares outstanding were 7,680,896, 7,497,862, and 6,820,225 for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. All outstanding unvested share-based
payment awards that contain rights to non-forfeitable dividends are considered participating
securities for basic and diluted earnings per share calculations. There were 59,264, 56,606, and
51,226 average shares of dilutive instruments outstanding during the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020, and 2019.

Loss Contingencies
Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business,
are recorded as liabilities when the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of loss
can be reasonably estimated. Management does not believe that there are any such matters
that will have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2021
and 2020.

Transfers of Financial Assets
Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales when control over the assets has been
relinquished. Control over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when the assets have
been isolated from the Bank, the transferee obtains the right, free of conditions that constrain it
from taking advantage of that right, to pledge or exchange the transferred assets and the Bank
does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through an agreement to
repurchase them before maturity.

Comprehensive Income
GAAP normally requires that recognized revenues, expenses, gains and losses be included in net
income. In addition to net income, another component of comprehensive income includes the
after-tax effect of changes in unrealized gains and losses on available for sale securities. This item
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is reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. The Corporation presents
comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive income.

Stock-based Compensation
The Corporation uses the fair value method of recognizing expense for stock-based
compensation based on the fair value of restricted stock awards at the date of grant as
prescribed by accounting standards codification Topic 781-10 Compensation/Stock
Compensation.

Mortgage Banking Derivatives
Commitments to fund mortgage loans (interest rate locks) to be sold into the secondary market
and forward commitments for the future delivery of these mortgage loans are accounted for as
free standing derivatives. Fair values of these mortgage derivatives are estimated based on
changes in mortgage interest rates from the date the interest rate on the loan is locked. The Bank
enters into forward commitments for the future delivery of mortgage loans when interest rate locks
are entered into in order to hedge the change in interest rates resulting from its commitments to
fund loans. The forward commitments for the future delivery of mortgage loans are based on the
Bank’s “best efforts” and therefore the Bank is not penalized if a loan is not delivered to the
investor if the loan did not get originated. Changes in the fair values of these derivatives generally
offset each other and are included in “other income” in the consolidated statements of income.

Reclassifications
Certain 2020 and 2019 amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation used in
2021. These reclassifications had no effect on the operations, financial condition or cash flows of
the Corporation.

New Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. Certain aspects of this ASU were updated
in November 2018 by the issuance of ASU 2018-19, Codification Improvements to Topic 326,
Financial Instruments—Credit Losses. The main objective of the ASU is to provide financial
statement users with more decision-useful information about the expected credit losses on
financial instruments and other commitments to extend credit held by a reporting entity at each
reporting date. To achieve this objective, the amendments in the ASU replace the incurred loss
impairment methodology in current GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected credit
losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information
to inform credit loss estimates. During 2019 FASB issued ASU 2019-10 which delayed the effective
date of ASU 2016-13 for smaller, publicly traded companies, until interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2022. This delay applies to the Corporation as it was classified as a
“Smaller reporting company” as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act as of the date ASU
2019-10 was enacted. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2016-13 on the
consolidated financial statements, although the general expectation in the banking industry is
that the implementation of this standard will result in higher required balances in the ALLL.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the
Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. This ASU provides optional guidance for
a limited period of time to ease the potential burden in accounting for (or recognizing the effects
of) reference rate reform on financial reporting. It provides optional expedients and exceptions
for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by
reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. The updated guidance is effective for all entities
fromMarch 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. The Corporation has been diligent in responding
to reference rate reform and does not anticipate a significant impact to its financial statements
as a result.

In October 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-08, Codification Improvements to Subtopic 310-20,
Receivables-Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs. This ASU clarifies the requirements for entities
to reevaluate whether a callable debt security is within the scope of paragraph 310-20-35-33 of
the stated subtopic for each reporting period. The ASU was published to clarify the Codification
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and correct its unintended application and was effective for fiscal years, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning after December 31, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did
not have an impact on the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements as all premiums
within its securities portfolio were already being amortized to the earliest call date prior to
implementation as required under subtopic 310-20.

Note 2 Acquisitions

Tomah Bancshares, Inc.
On May 15, 2020, the Company completed a merger with Tomah Bancshares, Inc.
(“Timberwood”), a bank holding company headquartered in Tomah, Wisconsin, pursuant to the
Agreement and Plan of Bank Merger, dated as of November 20, 2019, by and among the
Company and Timberwood, whereby Timberwood merged with and into the Company, and
Timberwood Bank, Timberwood’s wholly-owned banking subsidiary, merged with and into the
Bank. Timberwood’s principal activity was the ownership and operation of Timberwood Bank, a
state-chartered banking institution that operated one (1) branch in Wisconsin at the time of
closing. The merger consideration totaled approximately $29.8 million.

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Timberwood shareholders received 5.1445 shares
of the Company’s common stock for each outstanding share of Timberwood common stock, and
cash in lieu of any remaining fractional share. Company stock issued totaled 575,641 shares
valued at approximately $29.4 million, with cash of $0.4 million comprising the remainder of
merger consideration.

The Company accounted for the transaction under the acquisition method of accounting, and
thus, the financial position and results of operations of Timberwood prior to the consummation
date were not included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The accounting
required assets purchased and liabilities assumed to be recorded at their respective fair values at
the date of acquisition. The Company determined the fair value of core deposit intangibles,
securities, premises and equipment, loans, other assets and liabilities, deposits and borrowings with
the assistance of third party valuations, appraisals, and third party advisors. The estimated fair
values will be subject to refinement for up to one year after deal consummation as additional
information becomes available relative to the closing date fair values.

The fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on May 15, 2020 was as follows:

(in thousands)
As Recorded by
Timberwood

Fair Value
Adjustments

As Recorded by
the Company

Cash, cash equivalents and securities $ 79,614 $ (656) $ 78,958
Other investments 533 — 533
Loans 117,343 1,068 118,411
Premises and equipment, net 2,538 (1,006) 1,532
Core deposit intangible — 1,697 1,697
Other assets 11,392 (2,605) 8,787

Total assets acquired $211,420 $(1,502) $209,918

Deposits $170,362 $ 742 $171,104
Subordinated debt 6,500 — 6,500
Other borrowings 12,938 210 13,148
Other liabilities 1,923 (974) 949

Total liabilities assumed $191,723 $ (22) $191,701

Excess of assets acquired over liabilities assumed $ 19,697 $(1,480) $ 18,217

Less: purchase price 29,812
Goodwill (originally recorded) 11,595
Refinement to fair value estimates 305
Goodwill (after refinement) $ 11,900

Partnership Community Bancshares, Inc.
On July 12, 2019, the Corporation completed a merger with Partnership Community Bancshares,
Inc. (“Partnership”), a bank holding company headquartered in Cedarburg, Wisconsin, pursuant
to the Agreement and Plan of Bank Merger, dated as of January 22, 2019 and as amended on
April 30, 2019, by and among the Corporation and Partnership, whereby Partnership merged with
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and into the Corporation, and Partnership Bank, Partnership’s wholly-owned banking subsidiary,
merged with and into the Bank. Partnership’s principal activity was the ownership and operation
of Partnership Bank, a state-chartered banking institution that operated four branches in
Wisconsin at the time of closing. The merger consideration totaled approximately $49,589,000.

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Partnership shareholders had the option to
receive either 0.34879 shares of the Corporation’s common stock or $17.3001 in cash for each
outstanding share of Partnership common stock, and cash in lieu of any remaining fractional
share. The stock versus cash elections by the Partnership shareholders were subject to final
consideration being made up of approximately $14,285,000 in cash and 534,659 shares of
Corporation common stock, valued at approximately $35,303,000 (based on a value of $66.03
per share on the closing date).

The purpose of the merger was for strategic reasons beneficial to the Corporation. The acquisition
is consistent with its plan to drive growth and efficiency through increased scale, leverage the
strengths of each bank across the combined customer base, enhance profitability, and add
liquidity and shareholder value.

The Corporation accounted for the transaction under the acquisition method of accounting, and
thus, the financial position and results of operations of Partnership prior to the consummation date
were not included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The accounting
required assets purchased and liabilities assumed to be recorded at their respective fair values at
the date of acquisition. The Corporation determined the fair value of core deposit intangibles,
securities, premises and equipment, loans, other assets and liabilities, deposits and borrowings with
the assistance of third party valuations, appraisals, and third party advisors. The estimated fair
values will be subject to refinement for up to one year after the consummation as additional
information becomes available relative to the closing date fair values.

The fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on July 12, 2019 was as follows:

(in thousands)

As Recorded by
Partnership
Community
Bancshares

Fair Value
Adjustments

As Recorded by
Bank First

Corporation
Cash, cash equivalents and securities $ 21,447 $ (291) $ 21,156
Other investments 441 441
Loans 276,279 (957) 275,322
Premises and equipment, net 6,066 (2,940) 3,126
Core deposit intangible — 4,236 4,236
Other assets 3,668 (181) 3,487

Total assets acquired $307,901 $ (133) $307,768

Deposits $268,653 $ 154 $268,807
Subordinated debt 7,000 195 7,195
Other borrowings 9,800 (18) 9,782
Other liabilities 841 (13) 828

Total liabilities assumed $286,294 $ 318 $286,612

Excess of assets acquired over liabilities assumed $ 21,607 $ (451) $ 21,156
Less: purchase price 49,589
Goodwill $ 28,433

Note 3 Securities
The following is a summary of available for sale securities (dollar amounts in thousands):

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
Estimated
Fair Value

December 31, 2021
U.S. Treasury securities $ 49,574 $ 121 $(193) $ 49,502
Obligations of U.S. Government sponsored agencies 26,722 165 (341) 26,546
Obligations of states and political subdivisions 83,019 3,786 (67) 86,738
Mortgage-backed securities 26,143 1,117 (1) 27,259
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Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
Estimated
Fair Value

Corporate notes 20,760 436 (94) 21,102
Certificates of deposit 1,529 13 — 1,542
Total available for sale securities $207,747 $5,638 $(696) $212,689

December 31, 2020
Obligations of U.S. Government sponsored agencies $ 18,276 $ 556 $ (53) $ 18,779
Obligations of states and political subdivisions 67,653 4,564 — 72,217
Mortgage-backed securities 41,804 2,395 — 44,199
Corporate notes 27,358 470 (85) 27,743
Certificates of deposit 2,063 38 — 2,101
Total available for sale securities $157,154 $8,023 $(138) $165,039

The following is a summary of held to maturity securities (dollar amounts in thousands):

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
Estimated
Fair Value

December 31, 2021
Obligations of states and political subdivisions $5,911 $11 $ — $5,922

December 31, 2020
Obligations of states and political subdivisions $6,669 $19 $ — $6,688

At December 31, 2021, unrealized losses in the investment securities portfolio related to debt
securities. The unrealized losses on these debt securities arose primarily due to changing interest
rates and are considered to be temporary. From the December 31, 2021 tables above, 7 out of 9
U.S. Treasury securities, 2 out of 75 mortgage-backed securities, 5 out of 10 obligations of U.S.
Government sponsored agency securities, 7 out of 16 corporate notes and 5 out of 121
obligations of states and political subdivisions contained unrealized losses. At December 31, 2021
and 2020, management has both the intent and ability to hold securities containing unrealized
losses.

The following table shows the fair value and gross unrealized losses of securities with unrealized
losses, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have
been in a continuous unrealized loss position (dollar amounts in thousands):

Less Than
12 Months

Greater Than 12
Months Total

Fair
Value

Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Unrealized
Losses

December 31, 2021 - Available for Sale
U.S. Treasury securities $34,746 $(193) $ — $ — 34,746 (193)
Obligations of U.S. Government sponsored

agencies 13,185 (86) 4,558 (255) 17,743 (341)
Obligations of states and political

subdivisions 8,624 (67) — — 8,624 (67)
Mortgage-backed securities 254 (1) — — 254 (1)
Corporate notes 8,973 (94) — — 8,973 (94)
Totals $65,782 $(441) $4,558 $(255) $70,340 $(696)

December 31, 2020 - Available for Sale
Obligations of U.S. Government sponsored

agencies $ 5,640 $ (53) $ — $ — $ 5,640 $ (53)
Corporate notes 7,890 (85) — — 7,890 (85)
Totals $13,530 $(138) $ — $ — $13,530 $(138)
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Contractual maturities will differ from expected maturities for mortgage-backed securities
because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations without penalties. The
following is a summary of amortized cost and estimated fair value of securities, by contractual
maturity, as of December 31, 2021 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Available for Sale Held to Maturity
Amortized

Cost
Estimated
Fair Value

Amortized
Cost

Estimated
Fair Value

Due in one year or less $ 807 $ 809 $ 715 $ 715
Due after one year through 5 years 10,365 10,995 3,492 3,503
Due after 5 years through ten years 91,439 91,938 1,704 1,704
Due after 10 years 78,993 81,688 — —
Subtotal 181,604 185,430 5,911 5,922
Mortgage-backed securities 26,143 27,259 — —
Total $207,747 $212,689 $5,911 $5,922

Following is a summary of the proceeds from sales of securities available for sale, as well as gross
gains and losses, from the years ended December 31 (dollar amounts in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
Proceeds from sales of securities $9,087 $59,697 $45,506
Gross gains on sales — 3,284 657
Gross losses on sales (3) (51) (23)

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the carrying values of securities pledged to secure public
deposits, securities sold under repurchase agreements, and for other purposes required or
permitted by law were approximately $134,299,000 and $134,918,000, respectively.

Note 4 Loans
The composition of loans at December 31 is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

2021 2020
Commercial/industrial $ 367,284 $ 447,344
Commercial real estate - owner occupied 574,960 549,619
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 537,077 443,144
Construction and development 132,675 140,042
Residential 1-4 family 571,749 545,818
Consumer 31,992 30,359
Other 21,489 38,054
Subtotals 2,237,226 2,194,380
ALL (20,315) (17,658)
Loans, net of ALL 2,216,911 2,176,722
Deferred loan fees and costs (1,712) (2,920)
Loans, net $2,215,199 $2,173,802
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A summary of the activity in the allowance for loan losses by loan type as of December 31, 2021
and December 31, 2020 is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

Commercial /
Industrial

Commercial
Real Estate -

Owner Occupied

Commercial
Real Estate -
Non-Owner
Occupied

Construction
and

Development
Residential
1-4 Family Consumer Other Total

ALL - January 1, 2021 $ 2,049 $ 6,108 $ 3,904 $ 1,027 $ 3,960 $ 201 $ 409 $ 17,658
Charge-offs (233) (618) — — (125)(7) (36) (1,019)
Recoveries 53 343 5 143 15 1 16 576
Provision 1,830 (200) 1,242 (186) 595 29 (210) 3,100
ALL - December 31, 2021 3,699 5,633 5,151 984 4,445 224 179 20,315
ALL ending balance

individually evaluated for
impairment 70 — 894 — — — — 964

ALL ending balance
collectively evaluated for
impairment $ 3,629 $ 5,633 $ 4,257 $ 984 $ 4,445 $ 224 $ 179 $ 19,351

Loans outstanding-
December 31, 2021 $367,284 $574,960 $537,077 $132,675 $571,749 $31,992 $21,489 $2,237,226

Loans ending balance
individually evaluated for
impairment 439 4,966 1,519 — 273 — — 7,197

Loans ending balance
collectively evaluated for
impairment $366,845 $569,994 $535,558 $132,675 $571,476 $31,992 $21,489 $2,230,029

Commercial /
Industrial

Commercial
Real Estate -

Owner Occupied

Commercial
Real Estate -
Non-Owner
Occupied

Construction
and

Development
Residential
1-4 Family Consumer Other Total

ALL - January 1, 2020 $ 2,320 $ 4,587 $ 1,578 $ 548 $ 2,169 $ 141 $ 53 $ 11,396
Charge-offs (1,087) (783) — (33) (63) (90) (35) (2,091)
Recoveries 4 1,129 40 — 42 — 13 1,228
Provision 812 1,175 2,286 512 1,812 150 378 7,125
ALL - December 31, 2020 2,049 6,108 3,904 1,027 3,960 201 409 17,658
ALL ending balance

individually evaluated for
impairment 10 — 890 — — — — 900

ALL ending balance
collectively evaluated for
impairment $ 2,039 $ 6,108 $ 3,014 $ 1,027 $ 3,960 $ 201 $ 409 $ 16,758

Loans outstanding -
December 31, 2020 $447,344 $549,619 $443,144 $140,042 $545,818 $30,359 $38,054 $2,194,380

Loans ending balance
individually evaluated for
impairment 478 1,171 8,676 — 260 — — 10,585

Loans ending balance
collectively evaluated for
impairment $446,866 $548,448 $434,468 $140,042 $545,558 $30,359 $38,054 $2,183,795
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A summary of past due loans as of December 31, 2021 are as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

30-89 Days
Past Due
Accruing

90 Days
or more
Past Due

and Accruing Non-Accrual Total
Commercial/industrial $ 12 $738 $ 247 $ 997
Commercial real estate - owner occupied — — 5,884 5,884
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 65 — 650 715
Construction and development — — 19 19
Residential 1-4 family 2,002 245 439 2,686
Consumer 2 16 2 20
Other — — — —

$2,081 $999 $7,241 $10,321

A summary of past due loans as of December 31, 2020 are as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

30-89 Days
Past Due
Accruing

90 Days
or more
Past Due

and Accruing Non-Accrual Total
12/31/2020 Commercial/industrial $ 116 $ — $ 433 $ 549
Commercial real estate - owner occupied — 1,582 1,078 2,660
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied — — 8,087 8,087
Construction and development — — 281 281
Residential 1-4 family 1,415 142 912 2,469
Consumer 4 14 5 23
Other — — — —

$1,535 $1,738 $10,796 $14,069

Credit Quality:
We utilize a numerical risk rating system for commercial relationships whose total indebtedness
equals $250,000 or more. All other types of relationships (ex: residential, consumer, commercial
under $250,000 of indebtedness) are assigned a “Pass” rating, unless they have fallen 90 days past
due or more, at which time they receive a rating of 7. The Corporation uses split ratings for
government guaranties on loans. The portion of a loan that is supported by a government
guaranty is included with other Pass credits.

The determination of a commercial loan risk rating begins with completion of a matrix, which
assigns scores based on the strength of the borrower’s debt service coverage, collateral
coverage, balance sheet leverage, industry outlook, and customer concentration. A weighted
average is taken of these individual scores to arrive at the overall rating. This rating is subject to
adjustment by the loan officer based on facts and circumstances pertaining to the borrower. Risk
ratings are subject to independent review.

Commercial borrowers with ratings between 1 and 5 are considered Pass credits, with 1 being
most acceptable and 5 being just above the minimum level of acceptance.

Commercial borrowers rated 6 have potential weaknesses which may jeopardize repayment
ability.

Borrowers rated 7 have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses such as the inability to
demonstrate significant cash flow for debt service based on analysis of the company’s financial
information. These loans remain on accrual status provided full collection of principal and interest
is reasonably expected. Otherwise they are deemed impaired and placed on nonaccrual status.
Borrowers rated 8 are the same as 7 rated credits with one exception: collection or liquidation in
full is not probable.
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The breakdown of loans by risk rating as of December 31, 2021 is as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

Pass (1-5) 6 7 8 Total
Commercial/industrial $ 355,469 $— $11,815 $ — $ 367,284
Commercial real estate - owner occupied 570,703 — 4,257 — 574,960
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 513,175 — 23,902 — 537,077
Construction and development 131,429 — 1,246 — 132,675
Residential 1-4 family 570,022 83 1,644 — 571,749
Consumer 31,988 — 4 — 31,992
Other 21,489 — — — 21,489

$2,194,275 $83 $42,868 $ — $2,237,226

The breakdown of loans by risk rating as of December 31, 2020 is as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

Pass (1-5) 6 7 8 Total
Commercial/industrial $ 440,461 $2,479 $ 4,404 $ — $ 447,344
Commercial real estate - owner occupied 520,075 5,844 23,700 — 549,619
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 432,444 — 10,700 — 443,144
Construction and development 139,693 21 328 — 140,042
Residential 1-4 family 543,163 456 2,199 — 545,818
Consumer 30,359 — — — 30,359
Other 38,054 — — — 38,054

$2,144,249 $8,800 $41,331 $ — $2,194,380

The ALL represents management’s estimate of probable and inherent credit losses in the loan
portfolio. Estimating the amount of the ALL requires the exercise of significant judgment and the
use of estimates related to the amount and timing of expected future cash flows on impaired
loans, estimated losses on pools of homogenous loans based on historical loss experience, and
consideration of other qualitative factors such as current economic trends and conditions, all of
which may be susceptible to significant change. The loan portfolio also represents the largest
asset on the consolidated balance sheets. Loan losses are charged off against the ALL, while
recoveries of amounts previously charged off are credited to the ALL. A provision for loan losses
(“PFLL”) is charged to operations based on management’s periodic evaluation of the factors
previously mentioned, as well as other pertinent factors.

The ALL consists of specific reserves for certain individually evaluated impaired loans and general
reserves for collectively evaluated non-impaired loans. Specific reserves reflect estimated losses
on impaired loans from management’s analyses developed through specific credit allocations.
The specific reserves are based on regular analyses of impaired, non-homogenous loans greater
than $250,000. These analyses involve a high degree of judgment in estimating the amount of loss
associated with specific loans, including estimating the amount and timing of future cash flows
and collateral values. The general reserve is based in part on the Bank’s historical loss experience
which is updated quarterly. The general reserve portion of the ALL also includes consideration of
certain qualitative factors such as 1) changes in lending policies and/or underwriting practices,
2) national and local economic conditions, 3) changes in portfolio volume and nature, 4)
experience, ability and depth of lending management and other relevant staff, 5) levels of and
trends in past-due and nonaccrual loans and quality, 6) changes in loan review and oversight, 7)
impact and effects of concentrations and 8) other issues deemed relevant.

There are many factors affecting ALL; some are quantitative while others require qualitative
judgment. The process for determining the ALL (which management believes adequately
considers potential factors which might possibly result in credit losses) includes subjective elements
and, therefore, may be susceptible to significant change. To the extent actual outcomes differ
from management estimates, additional PFLL could be required that could adversely affect the
Corporation’s earnings or financial position in future periods. Allocations of the ALL may be made
for specific loans but the entire ALL is available for any loan that, in management’s judgment,
should be charged off or for which an actual loss is realized. As an integral part of their
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examination process, various regulatory agencies review the ALL as well. Such agencies may
require that changes in the ALL be recognized when such regulators’ credit evaluations differ
from those of management based on information available to the regulators at the time of their
examinations.

A summary of impaired loans individually evaluated as of December 31, 2021 is as follows (dollar
amounts in thousands):

Commercial/
Industrial

Commercial
Real Estate -

Owner
Occupied

Commercial
Real Estate -
Non-Owner
Occupied

Construction
and

Development
Residential
1-4 Family Consumer Other Total

With an allowance recorded:
Recorded investment $357 $ — $1,406 $ — $ — $ — $ — $1,763
Unpaid principal balance 357 — 1,406 — — — — 1,763
Related allowance 70 — 894 — — — — 964
With no related allowance

recorded:
Recorded investment $ 82 $4,966 $ 113 $ — $273 $ — $ — $5,434
Unpaid principal balance 82 4,966 113 — 273 — — 5,434
Related allowance — — — — — — — —
Total:
Recorded investment $439 $4,966 $1,519 $ — $273 $ — $ — $7,197
Unpaid principal balance 439 4,966 1,519 — 273 — — 7,197
Related allowance 70 — 894 — — — — 964
Average recorded investment $459 $3,069 $5,098 $ — $267 $ — $ — $8,893

A summary of impaired loans individually evaluated as of December 31, 2020 is as follows (dollar
amounts in thousands):

Commercial/
Industrial

Commercial
Real Estate -

Owner
Occupied

Commercial
Real Estate -
Non-Owner
Occupied

Construction
and

Development
Residential
1-4 Family Consumer Other Total

With an allowance recorded:
Recorded investment $ 478 $ — $7,684 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 8,162
Unpaid principal balance 478 — 7,684 — — — — 8,162
Related allowance 10 — 890 — — — — 900
With no related allowance

recorded:
Recorded investment $ — $1,171 $ 992 $ — $260 $ — $ — $ 2,423
Unpaid principal balance — 1,171 992 — 260 — — 2,423
Related allowance — — — — — — — —
Total:
Recorded investment $ 478 $1,171 $8,676 $ — $260 $ — $ — $10,585
Unpaid principal balance 478 1,171 8,676 — 260 — — 10,585
Related allowance 10 — 890 — — — — 900
Average recorded investment $1,178 $2,535 $4,338 $ — $130 $ — $ — $ 8,181

An analysis of interest income on impaired loans for the years ended December 31 follows (dollar
amounts in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
Interest income in accordance with original terms $ 679 $ 683 $ 651
Interest income recognized (720) (519) (129)
(Increase) Reduction in interest income $ (41) $ 164 $ 522

The following table presents loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality as of December 31,
2021 and 2020. No loans in this table had a related allowance at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
and therefore, the below disclosures were not expanded to include loans with and without a
related allowance (dollar amounts in thousands).
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December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Recorded
Investment

Unpaid
Principal
Balance

Recorded
Investment

Unpaid
Principal
Balance

Commercial & Industrial $ 596 $ 685 $ 805 $ 907
Commercial real estate - owner occupied 2,664 3,146 3,860 4,718
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 1,018 1,150 1,245 1,410
Construction and development — — 81 90
Residential 1-4 family 863 1,124 870 1,162
Consumer — — — —
Other — — — —

$5,141 $6,105 $6,861 $8,287

Due to the nature of these loan relationships, prepayment expectations have not been
considered in the determination of future cash flows. Management regularly monitors these loan
relationships, and if information becomes available that indicates expected cash flows will differ
from initial expectations, it may necessitate reclassification between accretable and
non-accretable components of the original discount calculation.

The following table represents the change in the accretable and non-accretable components of
discounts on loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality during the year ended December 31,
2021 and 2020 (dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Accretable
discount

Non-accretable
discount

Accretable
discount

Non-accretable
discount

Balance at beginning of year $1,250 $176 $ 222 $ 220
Acquired balance, net — — 1,064 727
Reclassifications between

accretable and non-accretable 27 (27) 771 (771)
Accretion to loan interest income (464) — (807) —
Disposals of loans — — — —
Balance at end of year $ 813 $149 $1,250 $ 176

A TDR includes a loan modification where a borrower is experiencing financial difficulty and we
grant a concession to that borrower that we would not otherwise consider except for the
borrower’s financial difficulties. A TDR may be either on accrual or nonaccrual status based upon
the performance of the borrower and management’s assessment of collectability. If a TDR is
placed on nonaccrual status, it remains there until a sufficient period of performance under the
restructured terms has occurred at which time it is returned to accrual status, generally six months.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 the Corporation had specific reserves of $7,000 and $0 related
to TDR’s, respectively. Loans modified under the guidance of the Cares Act are not considered
TDRs and as such are not included in the tables below.

The following table presents the troubled debt restructurings during the year ended December 31,
2021(dollar amounts in thousands):

Number of
Contracts

Pre-Modification
Outstanding
Recorded
Investment

Post-Modification
Outstanding
Recorded
Investment

Commercial & Industrial 1 $ 8 $ 8
Commercial Real Estate 2 131 131
Totals $139 $139

F-24



The following table presents the troubled debt restructurings during the year ended December 31,
2020 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Number of
Contracts

Pre-Modification
Outstanding
Recorded
Investment

Post-Modification
Outstanding
Recorded
Investment

Commercial Real Estate 1 $ 85 $ 85
Residential 1-4 Family 1 114 114
Totals $199 $199

Note 5 Related Party Matters
Directors, executive officers, and principal shareholders of the Corporation, including their families
and firms in which they are principal owners, are considered to be related parties. Loans to
officers, directors, and shareholders owning 10% or more of the Corporation, that we are aware
of, were made on the same terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at
the time for comparable transactions with others and did not involve more than the normal risk
of collectability or present other unfavorable features.

A summary of loans to directors, executive officers, principal shareholders, and their affiliates for
the years ended December 31 is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

2021 2020
Balances at beginning $ 67,131 $ 68,554
New loans and advances 24,723 54,758
Repayments (18,356) (56,181)
Balance at end $ 73,498 $ 67,131

Deposits from directors, executive officers, principal shareholders, and their affiliates totaled
approximately $22,665,000 and $26,486,000 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Note 6 Mortgage Servicing Rights
Loans serviced for others are not included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
MSRs are recognized as separate assets when loans sold in the secondary market are sold with
servicing retained. The Corporation utilizes a third party consulting firm to determine an accurate
assessment of the mortgage servicing rights fair value. The third party firm collects relevant data
points from numerous sources. Some of these data points relate directly to the pricing level or
relative value of the mortgage servicing while other data points relate to the assumptions used
to derive fair value. In addition, the valuation evaluates specific collateral types, and current and
historical performance of the collateral in question. The valuation process focuses on the
non-distressed secondary servicing market, common industry practices and current regulatory
standards. The primary determinants of the fair value of mortgage servicing rights are servicing
fee percentage, ancillary income, expected loan life or prepayment speeds, discount rates, costs
to service, delinquency rates, foreclosure losses and recourse obligations. The valuation data also
contains interest rate shock analyses for monitoring fair value changes in differing interest rate
environments.
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Following is an analysis of activity for the years ended December 31 in servicing rights assets that
are measured at fair value (dollar amounts in thousands):

2021 2020
Fair value at beginning of year $ 3,726 $ 4,287
MSR asset acquired — 384
Servicing asset additions 1,862 1,375
Loan payments and payoffs (1,319) (1,533)
Changes in valuation inputs and assumptions used in the valuation model 747 (787)
Amount recognized through earnings 1,290 (945)
Fair value at end of year $ 5,016 $ 3,726

Unpaid principal balance of loans serviced for others $705,462 $612,707
Mortgage servicing rights as a percent of loans serviced for others 0.71 0.61

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Corporation utilized economic
assumptions in measuring the initial value of MSRs for loans sold whereby servicing is retained by
the Corporation. The economic assumptions used at December 31, 2021 and 2020 included
constant prepayment speed of 13.8 and 16.3 months, respectively, and a discount rate of 10.28%
at the end of both years. The constant prepayment speeds are obtained from publicly available
sources for each of the Federal National Mortgage Association and Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation loan programs that the Corporation originates under. The assumptions
used by the Corporation are hypothetical and supported by a third party valuation. The
Corporation’s methodology for estimating the fair value of MSRs is highly sensitive to changes in
assumptions.

The carrying value of the mortgage servicing rights approximates fair market value at
December 31, 2021 and 2020. Changes in fair value are recognized through the income
statement as loan servicing income.

Note 7 Premises and Equipment
An analysis of premises and equipment at December 31 follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

2021 2020
Land and land improvements $ 9,763 $ 4,895
Buildings and building improvements 42,470 39,773
Furniture and equipment 5,955 5,826
Totals 58,188 50,494
Less accumulated depreciation 10,307 8,902
Right-of-use lease asset (see Note 21) 1,580 1,591
Premises and equipment, net $49,461 $43,183

Included in buildings and improvements at December 31, 2021 and 2020, is $1,110,000 and
$1,843,000, respectively, in construction in progress. These amounts relate to branch locations
which were under construction. These balances begin accumulating depreciation upon being
placed in service.

Depreciation and amortization of premises and equipment charged to operating expense
totaled approximately $1,778,000, $1,508,000, and $1,272,000 for the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.
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Note 8 Other Real Estate Owned
Changes in OREO for the years ended December 31 were as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

2021 2020
Beginning of year $ 1,885 $ 6,888
Transfers in 140 1,892
Depreciation (2) (28)
(Loss) gain on sale of OREO and valuation allowance 20 (1,395)
Sales (1,893) (5,472)
End of year $ 150 $ 1,885

Activity in the valuation allowance for the years ended December 31 was as follows (dollar
amounts in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
Beginning of year $ 112 $ 2,121 $2,208
Additions charged to expense 217 356 13
Valuation relieved due to sale of OREO (142) (2,365) (100)
End of year $ 187 $ 112 $2,121

Note 9 Investment in Minority-owned Subsidiaries
The Corporation has a 49.8% membership interest in UFS. The business operations of UFS consist of
providing data processing and other information technology services to the Corporation and
other financial institutions. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, UFS had total assets of $27,914,000
and $26,353,000 and liabilities of $4,493,000 and $3,133,000, respectively. The Corporation’s
investment in UFS was $11,605,000 and $11,695,000 at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
The investment is accounted for on the equity method. The Corporation’s undistributed earnings
from its investment in UFS were approximately $2,556,000, $3,066,000, and $2,935,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Data processing service fees paid by the
Corporation to UFS were approximately $3,754,000, $3,664,000, and $3,248,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Corporation has a contract with UFS that was renewed for five years on January 1, 2018.

The Corporation’s proportionate share of earnings of UFS flow through to its tax return. Deferred
income taxes of approximately $1,671,000 and $1,469,000 were provided to account for the
difference in the tax and book basis of assets and liabilities held at UFS at December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. During 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Corporation received $2,646,000, $2,103,000
and $2,108,000 in dividends from UFS, respectively.

TVG, the insurance subsidiary of the Bank, maintained a 40.0% investment in Ansay at
December 31, 2021 and 2020. Ansay is an independent insurance agency that has operated in
southeastern Wisconsin since 1946, managing the insurance and risk needs of commercial and
personal insurance clients in Wisconsin and the Midwest. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
Ansay had total assets of $80,612,000 and $77,177,000 and liabilities of $39,135,000 and
$37,729,000, respectively. The Corporation’s investment in Ansay, which is accounted for using the
equity method, was $31,330,000 and $30,583,000 at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
The Corporation recognized undistributed earnings of approximately $2,587,000, $2,740,000 and
$1,792,000 and received dividends of $1,840,000, $1,712,000 and $1,329,000 from its investment in
Ansay during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, Ansay had term loans with the Bank totaling approximately
$16,936,000 and $15,241,000, respectively. Ansay also has available revolving lines of credit
totaling $18,940,000 with the Corporation, under which there were outstanding balances of
$1,944,000 as of December 31, 2021. There were no balances outstanding under these revolving
lines as of December 31, 2020.

Ansay maintained deposits at the Bank totaling $10,304,000 and $12,924,000 as of December 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively.
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The CEO of Ansay, Michael G. Ansay, serves as Chairman of the Board of the Corporation. As a
related party, during 2021, 2020 and 2019 the Corporation received insurance consulting services
and purchased director and officer fidelity bond and commercial insurance coverage through
Ansay spending approximately $329,000, $261,000 and $225,000, respectively.

The Corporation’s proportionate share of earnings of Ansay flow through to its tax return. Deferred
income taxes of approximately $1,192,000 and $1,235,000 were provided to account for the
difference in the tax and book basis of assets and liabilities held at Ansay as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively.

Note 10 Core Deposit Intangibles
The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization of core deposit intangibles for
the years ended December 31 are as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

2021 2020
Gross

Carrying
Amount

Intangible
Accumulated
Amortization

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Intangible
Accumulated
Amortization

Core deposit intangible $9,030 $4,995 $9,030 $3,589

Amortization expense was $1,405,000, $1,636,000 and $1,069,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The following table shows the estimated future amortization expense of core deposit intangibles.
The projections of amortization expense are based on existing asset balances as of December 31,
2021 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Core
Deposit

Intangible
2022 $1,174
2023 942
2024 711
2025 496
2026 364
Thereafter 348
Total $4,035

Note 11 Goodwill
Goodwill was $55,357,000 and $55,472,000 at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Note 12 Deposits
The composition of deposits at December 31 is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

2021 2020
Noninterest-bearing demand deposits $ 799,936 $ 715,646
Interest-bearing demand deposits 286,606 223,753
Savings deposits 1,185,727 1,033,253
Time deposits 244,477 329,154
Brokered certificates of deposit 11,694 19,157
Total deposits $2,528,440 $2,320,963

Time deposits of $250,000 or more were approximately $36,788,000 and $55,182,000 at
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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The scheduled maturities of time deposits at December 31, 2021, are summarized as follows (dollar
amounts in thousands):

2022 $155,166
2023 49,538
2024 27,023
2025 5,185
2026 3,718
Thereafter 15,541
Total $256,171

Note 13 Securities Sold Under Repurchase Agreements
Securities sold under repurchase agreements have contractual maturities up to one year from the
transaction date with variable and fixed rate terms. The agreements to repurchase securities
require that the Corporation (seller) repurchase identical securities as those that are sold. The
securities underlying the agreements were under the Corporation’s control.

Information concerning securities sold under repurchase agreements at December 31 consists of
the following (dollar amounts in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
Outstanding balance at the end of the year $41,122 $36,377 $45,865
Weighted average interest rate at the end of the year 0.02% 0.04% 1.47%
Average balance during the year $34,637 $34,984 $21,522
Average interest rate during the year 0.03% 0.32% 2.14%
Maximum month end balance during the year $57,915 $79,718 $45,865

Note 14 Notes Payable
There were $7,958,000 and $23,338,000 of advances outstanding from the FHLB at December 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively. From time to time the Bank utilized short-term FHLB advances to fund
liquidity during these years. The advances, rate, and maturities of FHLB advances as of
December 31 were as follows:

Maturity Rate 2021 2020
(dollars in thousands)

Fixed rate, fixed term 01/22/2021 1.67% — 2,000
Fixed rate, fixed term 01/25/2021 2.37% — 5,000
Fixed rate, fixed term 01/27/2021 1.60% — 1,000
Fixed rate, fixed term 03/29/2021 0.00% — 2,377
Fixed rate, fixed term 05/03/2021 2.87% — 500
Fixed rate, fixed term 05/03/2021 0.00% — 4,000
Fixed rate, fixed term 05/03/2021 0.00% — 4,000
Fixed rate, fixed term 06/28/2021 2.00% — 250
Fixed rate, fixed term 11/03/2021 1.46% — 400
Fixed rate, fixed term 12/08/2021 2.87% — 500
Fixed rate, fixed term 12/27/2021 1.99% — 250
Fixed rate, fixed term 01/24/2022 2.51% 250 250
Fixed rate, fixed term 05/02/2022 2.98% 500 500
Fixed rate, fixed term 05/16/2022 0.00% 5,000 —
Fixed rate, fixed term 06/08/2022 2.92% 500 500
Fixed rate, fixed term 11/21/2022 3.02% 600 600
Fixed rate, fixed term 11/21/2023 3.06% 600 600
Fixed rate, fixed term 01/04/2027 0.00% — 103
Fixed rate, fixed term 04/22/2030 0.00% 508 508

7,958 23,338
Purchase accounting adjustment 53 131
Total notes payable $8,011 $23,469
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Future maturities of borrowings were as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,
2021

December 31,
2020

1 year or less $6,850 $20,277
1 to 2 years 600 1,850
2 to 3 years — 600
3 to 4 years — —
4 to 5 years — —
Over 5 years 508 611

$7,958 $23,338

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, total loans available to be pledged as collateral
on FHLB borrowings were approximately $915,512,000 and $825,300,000 and, of that total,
$527,199,000 and $374,100,000 qualified as eligible collateral. The Bank owned $3,353,000 of FHLB
stock at December 31, 2021 and 2020. In addition to the fixed rate, fixed term advances noted
above, as of December 31, 2020, the Bank had $800,000 of credit outstanding from the FHLB
which consisted entirely of letters of credit. There were no such letters of credit as of December 31,
2021. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank had available liquidity of $519,242,000 and
$350,000,000 for future draws, respectively. FHLB stock is included in other investments at
December 31, 2021 and 2020. This stock is recorded at cost, which approximates fair value.

The Corporation maintains a $7,500,000 line of credit with a commercial bank, which was entered
into on May 15, 2021. There were no outstanding balances on this note at December 31, 2021. Any
future borrowings will require monthly payments of interest at a variable rate, and will be due in
full on May 15, 2022.

Note 15 Subordinated Debt
During September 2017, the Corporation entered into subordinated note agreements with three
separate commercial banks. The Corporation had up to twelve months from entering these
agreements to borrow funds up to a maximum availability of $22,500,000. As of December 31,
2021 and 2020, the Corporation had borrowed $11,500,000 under these agreements. These notes
were all issued with 10-year maturities, carry interest at a variable rate payable quarterly, are
callable on or after the sixth anniversary of their issuance dates, and qualify for Tier 2 capital for
regulatory purposes.

During July 2020, the Company entered into subordinated note agreements with two separate
commercial banks. The Company had through December 31, 2020, to borrow funds up to a
maximum availability of $6,000,000 under each agreement, or $12,000,000 total. These notes were
issued with 10-year maturities, carry interest at a fixed rate of 5.0% through June 30, 2025, and at
a variable rate thereafter, payable quarterly. These notes are callable on or after January 1, 2026
and qualify for Tier 2 capital for regulatory purposes. The Company had outstanding balances of
$6,000,000 under these agreements at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Note 16 Income Taxes
The components of the provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31 are as
follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
Current tax expense:

Federal $ 9,898 $ 8,181 $4,327
State 4,626 3,766 2,412

Total current 14,524 11,947 6,739
Deferred tax expenses (benefit):

Federal (1) (82) 620
State — (34) 236

Total deferred (1) (116) 856
Total provision for income taxes $14,523 $11,831 $7,595
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A summary of the sources of differences between income taxes at the federal statutory rate and
the provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31 follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

2021 2020 2019
Tax expense at statutory rate $12,593 $10,474 $ 7,201
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:

Tax-exempt interest (1,074) (1,369) (1,320)
State taxes (net of Federal benefit) 3,666 2,987 1,923
Cash surrender value of life insurance (161) (156) (131)
ESOP dividend (98) (78) (93)
Tax credits — — (39)
Nondeductible expenses associated with acquisition — 71 —
Other (403) (98) 54

Total provision for income taxes $14,523 $11,831 $ 7,595

Deferred income taxes are provided for the temporary differences between the financial
reporting basis and the tax basis of the Corporation’s assets and liabilities. Deferred taxes are
included in other liabilities of the balance sheet. The major components of the net deferred tax
asset (liability) as of December 31 are presented below (dollar amounts in thousands):

2021 2020
Deferred tax assets:

Deferred compensation $ 69 $ 95
Premises and equipment — 59
Allowance for loan losses 5,534 4,810
Accrued vacation and severance 36 35
Other real estate owned 51 68
Other 454 464

Total deferred tax assets 6,144 5,531
Deferred tax liabilities:

Investment in acquisition and discount accretion (69) (122)
Premises and equipment (179) —
Mortgage servicing rights (1,366) (1,006)
Other investments (323) (309)
Prepaid expenses (71) (71)
Investment in minority owned subsidiaries (2,867) (2,704)
Goodwill and other intangibles (753) (963)
Purchase accounting (697) (538)
Unrealized gain on securities available for sale (1,335) (2,129)

Total deferred tax liabilities (7,660) (7,842)
Net deferred tax liability $(1,516) $(2,311)

Tax effects from an uncertain tax position can be recognized in the financial statements only if the
position is more likely than not to be sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the
position. The Corporation recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only after
determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position
following an audit. For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the amount
recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood
of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority. When applicable,
interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions are calculated based on the guidance from the
relevant tax authority and included in income tax expense. At December 31, 2021 and 2020,
there was no liability for uncertain tax positions. Federal income tax returns for 4 years ended
December 31, 2018 through 2021 remain open and subject to review by applicable tax
authorities. State income tax returns for 5 years ended December 31, 2017 through 2021 remain
open and subject to review by applicable tax authorities.
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Note 17 Employee Benefit Plans

Employee Stock Ownership Plan
The Corporation has a defined contribution profit sharing 401(k) plan which includes the provisions
for an employee stock ownership plan (“ESOP”). The plan is available to all employees over
18 years of age after completion of three months of service. Employees participating in the plan
may elect to defer a minimum of 2% of compensation up to the limits specified by law. All
participants of the 401(k) plan are eligible for the ESOP and may allocate their contributions to
purchase shares of the Corporation’s stock. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the plan held
340,131 and 361,787 shares, respectively. These shares are included in the calculation of the
Corporation’s earnings per share. The Corporation may make discretionary contributions up to the
limits established by IRS regulations. The discretionary match was 35% of participant contributions
up to 10% of the employee’s salary in 2021, 2020, and 2019. The Corporation made additional
discretionary contributions to the plan of $600,000, $733,000, $505,000 in 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. Total expense associated with the plans was approximately $1,169,000, $1,272,000
and $957,000 in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively

Share-based Compensation
The Corporation has made restricted share grants during 2021,2020 and 2019 pursuant to the Bank
First National Corporation 2011 Equity Plan and the Bank First Corporation 2020 Equity Plan, which
replaced the 2011 Plan. The purpose of the Plan is to provide financial incentives for selected
employees and for the non-employee Directors of the Corporation, thereby promoting the
long-term growth and financial success of the Corporation. The Corporation stock to be offered
under the Plan pursuant to Stock Appreciation Rights, performance unit awards, and restricted
stock and unrestricted Corporation stock awards must be Corporation stock previously issued and
outstanding and reacquired by the Corporation. The number of shares of Corporation stock that
may be issued pursuant to awards under the 2020 Plan shall not exceed, in the aggregate,
700,000. As of December 31, 2021, 25,815 shares of Corporation stock has been awarded under
the 2020 Plan. Compensation expense for restricted stock is based on the fair value of the awards
of Bank First Corporation common stock at the time of grant. The value of restricted stock grants
that are expected to vest is amortized into expense over the vesting periods. For the year ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, compensation expense of $1,392,000, $1,081,000 and
$685,000, respectively, was recognized related to restricted stock awards.

As of December 31, 2021, there was $2,236,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to
non-vested restricted stock awards granted under the plan. That cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 2.52 years. The aggregate grant date fair value
of restricted stock awards that vested during 2021 was approximately $1,091,000.

For the year ended
December 31, 2021

For the year ended
December 31, 2020

Shares

Weighted-
Average Grant-
Date Fair Value Shares

Weighted-
Average Grant-
Date Fair Value

Restricted Stock
Outstanding at beginning of year 57,175 $53.08 50,676 $43.03
Granted 25,416 70.67 27,466 60.76
Vested (21,755) 50.15 (18,623) 37.28
Forfeited or cancelled (2,225) 62.40 (2,344) 51.27
Outstanding at end of year 58,611 $61.44 57,175 $53.08

Deferred Compensation Plan
The Corporation has a deferred compensation agreement with one of its former executive
officers. The benefits were payable beginning June 30, 2009, the date of termination of
employment with the Corporation via retirement. The estimated annual cash benefit payment
upon retirement at the age of 70 under the salary continuation plan is $108,011. The payoff is for
the participant’s lifetime and is guaranteed to the participant or their surviving beneficiary for a
minimum of 15 years. Related expense for this agreement was approximately $15,000, $19,000,
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and $23,000 for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The vested
present value of future payments of approximately $ 255,000 and $348,000 at December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively, is included in other liabilities. During 2021 and 2020 the discount rate used
to present value the future payments of this obligation was 4.95%.

Note 18 Stockholders’ Equity and Regulatory Matters
The Bank, as a national bank, is subject to the dividend restrictions set forth by the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency. Under such restrictions, the Bank may not, without the prior approval
of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, declare dividends in excess of the sum of the
current year’s earnings (as defined) plus the retained earnings (as defined) from the prior
two years. The dividends that the Bank could declare without the prior approval of the Office of
the Comptroller of the Currency as of December 31, 2021 totaled approximately $77,800,000. The
payment of dividends may be further limited because of the need for the Bank to maintain
capital ratios satisfactory to applicable regulatory agencies.

Banks and certain bank holding companies are subject to regulatory capital requirements
administered by federal banking agencies. Capital adequacy guidelines and, additionally for
banks, prompt corrective action regulations involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and
certain off-balance sheet items calculated under regulatory accounting practices. Capital
amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators. Failure to
meet capital requirements can initiate regulatory action.

The Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act, signed into law in
May 2018 raised the threshold for those bank holding companies subject to the Federal Reserve’s
Small Bank Holding Company Policy Statement to $3 billion. As a result, as of the effective date
of that change in 2018, the Corporation was no longer required to comply with the risk-based
capital rules applicable to the Bank. The Federal Reserve may, however, require smaller bank
holding companies to maintain certain minimum capital levels, depending upon general
economic conditions and a bank holding company’s particular condition, risk profile and growth
plans.

Under regulatory guidance for non-advanced approaches institutions, the Bank is required to
maintain minimum amounts and ratios of common equity Tier I capital to risk-weighted assets,
including an additional conservation buffer determined by banking regulators. As of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, this buffer was 2.50%. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank
met all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject.

Actual and required capital amounts and ratios are presented below (dollar amounts in
thousands):

Actual
For Capital

Adequacy Purposes

Minimum Capital
Adequacy with
Capital Buffer

To Be Well
Capitalized Under
Prompt Corrective
Action Provisions

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
December 31, 2021
Total capital (to risk-weighted

assets):
Corporation $ 297,467 12.44% NA NA NA NA NA NA
Bank $ 291,994 12.21% $ 191,339 8.00% $ 251,133 10.50% $ 239,174 10.00%

Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted
assets):
Corporation $ 259,652 10.86% NA NA NA NA NA NA
Bank $ 271,679 11.36% $ 143,505 6.00% $ 203,298 8.50% $ 191,339 8.00%

Common Equity Tier 1 capital
(to risk-weighted assets):
Corporation $ 259,652 10.86% NA NA NA NA NA NA
Bank $ 271,679 11.36% $ 107,628 4.50% $ 167,422 7.00% $ 155,463 6.50%

Tier 1 capital (to average
assets):
Corporation $ 259,652 9.29% NA NA NA NA NA NA
Bank $ 271,679 9.72% $ 111,825 4.00% $ 111,825 4.00% $ 139,781 5.00%
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Actual
For Capital

Adequacy Purposes

Minimum Capital
Adequacy with
Capital Buffer

To Be Well
Capitalized Under
Prompt Corrective
Action Provisions

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

December 31, 2020
Total capital (to risk-weighted

assets):
Corporation $ 263,344 11.74% NA NA NA NA NA NA
Bank $ 263,129 11.73% $ 179,420 8.00% $ 235,489 10.50% $ 224,275 10.00%

Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted
assets):
Corporation $ 228,186 10.17% NA NA NA NA NA NA
Bank $ 245,471 10.95% $ 134,565 6.00% $ 190,634 8.50% $ 179,420 8.00%

Common Equity Tier 1 capital
(to risk-weighted assets):
Corporation $ 228,186 10.17% NA NA NA NA NA NA
Bank $ 245,471 10.95% $ 100,924 4.50% $ 156,993 7.00% $ 145,779 6.50%

Tier 1 capital (to average
assets):
Corporation $ 228,186 8.74% NA NA NA NA NA NA
Bank $ 245,471 9.46% $ 103,814 4.00% $ 103,814 4.00% $ 129,768 5.00%

Note 19 Segment Information
The Corporation, through the branch network of its subsidiary, the Bank, provides a full range of
consumer and commercial financial institution services to individuals and businesses in Wisconsin.
These services include credit cards; secured and unsecured consumer, commercial, and real
estate loans; demand, time, and savings deposits; and ATM processing. The Corporation also
offers a full-line of insurance services through its equity investment in Ansay and offers data
processing services through its equity investment in UFS.

While the Corporation’s chief decision makers monitor the revenue streams of various Corporation
products and services, operations are managed and financial performance is evaluated on a
Corporation-wide basis. Accordingly, all of the Corporation’s financial institution operations are
considered by management to be aggregated in one reportable operating segment.

Note 20 Commitments and Contingencies
The Corporation enters into commitments to originate loans whereby the interest rate on the loan
is determined prior to funding (rate lock commitments). Rate lock commitments on mortgage
loans that are intended to be sold are considered to be derivatives. Accordingly, such
commitments, along with any related fees received from potential borrowers, are recorded at fair
value in derivative assets or liabilities, with changes in fair value recorded in the net gain or loss
on sale of mortgage loans. Fair value is based on fees currently charged to enter into similar
agreements and for fixed rate commitments also considers the difference between current levels
of interest rates and committed rates. The notional amount of rate lock commitments at
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, was $21,921,000 and $69,600,000.

The Bank is party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of
business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These instruments involve, to varying
degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount recognized in the consolidated balance
sheets.

The Bank’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual or notional amount of these
commitments. The Bank follows the same credit policies in making commitments as it does for
on-balance-sheet instruments. Since some of the commitments are expected to expire without
being drawn upon and some of the commitments may not be drawn upon to the total extent of
the commitment, the notional amount of these commitments does not necessarily represent
future cash requirements.
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The following commitments were outstanding at December 31 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Notional Amount
2021 2020

Commitments to extend credit:
Fixed $ 90,036 $ 72,298
Variable 412,095 388,738

Credit card arrangements 10,916 10,867
Letters of credit 9,062 7,567

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer at fixed or variable rates
as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the contract. Commitments have
fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee. The
amount of collateral obtained upon extension of credit is based on management’s credit
evaluation of the customer. Collateral held varies but may include accounts receivable;
inventory; property, plant, and equipment; real estate; and stocks and bonds.

Letters of credit include $100,000 of direct pay letters of credit and $8,962,000 of standby letters
of credit. Direct pay letters of credit generally are issued to support the marketing of industrial
development revenue and housing bonds and provide that all debt service payments will be
paid by drawing on the letter of credit. The letter of credit draws are then repaid by draws from
the customer’s bank account. Standby letters of credit are conditional lending commitments
issued by the Corporation to guaranty the performance of a customer to a third party. Generally,
all standby letters of credit issued have expiration dates within one year. The credit risk involved
in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to
customers. The Corporation generally holds collateral supporting these commitments. The majority
of the Corporation’s loans, commitments, and letters of credit have been granted to customers
in the Corporation’s market area. The concentrations of credit by type are set forth in Note 4.
Standby letters of credit were granted primarily to commercial borrowers. Management believes
the diversity of the local economy will prevent significant losses in the event of an economic
downturn.

Note 21 Leases
In accordance with GAAP, leases where the Corporation is the lessee are recognized on-balance
sheet through a right-of-use (“ROU”) model that requires recognition of a ROU lease asset and
liability on the balance sheet for all leases with a term longer than 12 months. Leases are classified
as finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern and classification of expense
recognition in the income statement.

The Corporation leases certain properties under operating leases that resulted in the recognition
of ROU lease assets of approximately $1,580,000 and $1,591,000 and corresponding lease liabilities
of the same value on the Corporation’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively.

GAAP provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition. The Corporation has
elected the “package of practical expedients,” which permits the Corporation not to reassess
under the new standard the prior conclusions about lease identification, lease classification and
initial direct costs. The Corporation also elected the use of the hindsight, a practical expedient
which permits the use of information available after lease inception to determine the lease term
via the knowledge of renewal options exercised not available as of the leases inception. The
Corporation elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for all leases that qualify,
meaning those with terms under twelve months. ROU assets or lease liabilities are not to be
recognized for short-term leases. The Corporation also elected the practical expedient to not
separate lease and non-lease components for all leases, the majority of which consist of real
estate common area maintenance expenses. However, since these non-lease items are subject
to change, they are treated and disclosed as variable payments in the quantitative disclosures
below.
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Lessee Leases

The Corporation’s lessee leases are operating leases, and consist of leased real estate for
branches. Options to extend and renew leases are generally exercised under normal
circumstances. Advance notification is required prior to termination, and any noticing period is
often limited to the months prior to renewal. Rent escalations are generally specified by a
payment schedule, or are subject to a defined formula. The Corporation also elected the
practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components for all leases, the majority
of which consist of real estate common area maintenance expenses. Generally, leases do not
include guaranteed residual values, but instead typically specify that the leased premises are to
be returned in satisfactory condition with the Corporation liable for damages.

For operating leases, the lease liability and ROU asset (before adjustments) are recorded at the
present value of future lease payments. The Corporation is electing to utilize the Wall Street
Journal Prime Rate on the date of lease commencement as the lease interest rate.

For the year ended
December 31,

2021
December 31,

2020
(dollar amounts in Thousands)

Amortization of ROU Assets - Operating Leases $ 11 $ 108
Interest on Lease Liabilities - Operating Leases 87 26
Operating Lease Cost (Cost resulting from lease payments) 98 133
New ROU Assets - Operating Leases — —
Weighted Average Lease Term (Years) - Operating Leases 32.00 32.75
Weighted Average Discount Rate - Operating Leases 5.50% 5.50%

A maturity analysis of operating lease liabilities and reconciliation of the undiscounted cash flows
to the total operating lease liabilities is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31,
2021

December 31,
2020

Operating lease payments due:
Within one year $ 86 $ 98
After one but within two years 86 86
After two but within three years 85 86
After three but within four years 85 85
After four years but within five years 94 85
After five years 3,231 3,325

Total undiscounted cash flows 3,667 3,765
Discount on cash flows (2,087) (2,174)

Total operating lease liabilities $ 1,580 $ 1,591

Note 22 Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Accounting guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy to maximize the use of observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The standard describes
three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value.

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) or identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the
entity has the ability to access as of the measurement date.

Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices
for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a reporting entity’s own assumptions
about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or
liability.
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Information regarding the fair value of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis is as
follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

Instruments
Measured
At Fair
Value

Markets
for Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Other
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

December 31, 2021
Assets

Securities available for sale
U.S. Treasury securities $49,502 $ — $49,502 $ —
Obligations of U.S. Government

sponsored agencies 26,546 — 26,546 —
Obligations of states and political

subdivisions 86,738 — 86,738 —
Mortgage-backed securities 27,259 — 27,259 —
Corporate notes 21,102 — 21,102 —
Certificates of deposit 1,542 — 1,542 —

Mortgage servicing rights 5,016 — 5,016 —
December 31, 2020
Assets

Securities available for sale
Obligations of U.S. Government

sponsored agencies $18,779 $ — $18,779 $ —
Obligations of states and political

subdivisions 72,217 — 72,217 —
Mortgage-backed securities 44,199 — 44,199 —
Corporate notes 27,743 — 27,743 —
Certificates of deposit 2,101 — 2,101 —

Mortgage servicing rights 3,726 — 3,726 —

There were no assets measured on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
during these periods.

Information regarding the fair value of assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis is as
follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

Assets
Measured
At Fair
Value

Quoted Prices
In Active
Markets

for Identical
Assets

(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

December 31, 2021
OREO $ 150 $ — $ — $ 150
Impaired Loans, net of impairment reserve 6,233 — — 6,233

$ 6,383 $ — $ — $ 6,383
December 31, 2020
OREO $ 1,885 $ — $ — $ 1,885
Impaired Loans, net of impairment reserve 9,685 — — 9,685

$11,570 $ — $ — $11,570

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used by the Corporation for the
items noted in the table above, including the general classification of such instruments in the fair
value hierarchy. For individually evaluated impaired loans, the amount of impairment is based
upon the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest
rate, the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral for collateral-dependent loans, or the
estimated liquidity of the note. For OREO, the fair value is based upon the estimated fair value of
the underlying collateral adjusted for the expected costs to sell. The following table shows
significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of Level 3 assets:
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Valuation
Technique

Unobservable
Inputs

Range of
Discounts

Weighted
Average
Discount

As of December 31, 2021

Other real estate owned

Third party
appraisals, sales
contracts or

brokered price
options

Collateral
discounts and

estimated costs to
sell 18% - 97% 18.0%

Impaired loans

Third party
appraisals and
discounted cash

flows

Collateral
discounts and
discount rates 0% - 100% 7.4%

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Corporation to estimate fair value of
financial instruments.

Cash and cash equivalents - Fair value approximates the carrying amount.

Securities - The fair value measurement is obtained from an independent pricing service and is
based on recent sales of similar securities and other observable market data.

Loans held for sale - Fair value is based on commitments on hand from investors or prevailing
market prices.

Loans - Fair value of variable rate loans that reprice frequently are based on carrying value. Fair
value of other loans is estimated by discounting future cash flows using current rates at which
similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings. Fair value of impaired and
other nonperforming loans are estimated using discounted expected future cash flows or the fair
value of the underlying collateral, if applicable.

Other investments - The carrying amount reported in the consolidated balance sheets for other
investments approximates the fair value of these assets.

Mortgage servicing rights - Fair values were determined using the present value of future cash
flows.

Cash value of life insurance - The carrying amount approximates its fair value.

Deposits - Fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, such as demand deposits, savings, and
money market accounts, by definition, is the amount payable on demand on the reporting date.
Fair value of fixed-rate time deposits is estimated using discounted cash flows applying interest
rates currently offered on similar time deposits.

Securities sold under repurchase agreements - The fair value of securities sold under repurchase
agreements with variable rates or due on demand is the amount payable at the reporting date.
The fair value of securities sold under repurchase agreements with fixed terms is estimated using
discounted cash flows with discount rates at interest rates currently offered for securities sold
under repurchase agreements of similar remaining values.

Notes payable and Subordinated notes - Rates currently available to the Corporation for debt
with similar terms and remaining maturities are used to estimate fair value of existing debt. Fair
value of borrowings is estimated by discounting future cash flows using the current rates at which
similar borrowings would be made. Fair value of borrowed funds due on demand is the amount
payable at the reporting date.

Off-balance-sheet instruments - Fair value is based on quoted market prices of similar financial
instruments where available. If a quoted market price is not available, fair value is based on fees
currently charged to enter into similar agreements, taking into account the remaining terms of the
agreement and the company’s credit standing. Since this amount is immaterial, no amounts for
fair value are presented.
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The carrying value and estimated fair value of financial instruments at December 31 follows (dollar
amounts in thousands):

Fair Value

December 31, 2021
Carrying
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 296,860 $296,860 $ — $ — $ 296,860
Securities held to maturity 5,911 — 5,922 — 5,922
Securities available for sale 212,689 — 212,689 — 212,689
Loans held for sale 786 — — 786 786
Loans, net 2,215,199 — — 2,210,593 2,210,593
Other investments, at cost 9,004 — — 9,004 9,004
Mortgage servicing rights 5,016 — 5,016 — 5,016
Cash surrender value of life insurance 31,897 31,897 — — 31,897

Financial liabilities:
Deposits $2,528,440 $ — $ — $2,457,287 $2,457,287
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 41,122 — 41,122 — 41,122
Notes payable 8,011 — 8,011 — 8,011
Subordinated notes 17,500 — 17,500 — 17,500

Fair Value

December 31, 2020
Carrying
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 170,219 $170,219 $ — $ — $ 170,219
Securities held to maturity 6,669 — 6,688 — 6,688
Securities available for sale 165,039 — 165,039 — 165,039
Loans held for sale 809 — — 809 809
Loans, net 2,173,802 — — 2,168,865 2,168,865
Other investments, at cost 8,896 — — 8,896 8,896
Mortgage servicing rights 3,726 — 3,726 — 3,726
Cash surrender value of life insurance 31,394 31,394 — — 31,394

Financial liabilities:
Deposits $2,320,963 $ — $ — $2,309,489 $2,309,489
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 36,377 — 36,377 — 36,377
Notes payable 23,469 — 23,469 — 23,469
Subordinated notes 17,500 — 17,500 — 17,500

The fair value of a financial instrument is the current amount that would be exchanged between
willing parties, other than in a forced liquidation. Fair value is best determined based upon quoted
market prices. However, in many instances, there are no quoted market prices for the
Corporation’s various financial instruments. In cases where quoted market prices are not
available, fair values are based on estimates using present value or other valuation techniques.
Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate
and estimates of future cash flows. Accordingly, the fair value estimates may not be realized in
an immediate settlement of the instrument. Consequently, the aggregate fair value amounts
presented may not necessarily represent the underlying fair value of the Corporation.

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time based on relevant market information
and information about the financial instrument. These estimates do not reflect any premium or
discount that could result from offering for sale at one time the Corporation’s entire holdings of a
particular instrument. Because no market exists for a significant portion of the Corporation’s
financial instruments, fair value estimates are based on judgments regarding future expected loss
experience, current economic conditions, risk characteristics of various financial instruments, and
other factors. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters that
could affect the estimates. Fair value estimates are based on existing on- and off-balance-sheet
financial instruments without attempting to estimate the value of anticipated future business and
the value of assets and liabilities that are not considered financial instruments.
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Deposits with no stated maturities are defined as having a fair value equivalent to the amount
payable on demand. This prohibits adjusting fair value derived from retaining those deposits for
an expected future period of time. This component, commonly referred to as a deposit base
intangible, is neither considered in the above amounts nor is it recorded as an intangible asset on
the consolidated balance sheet. Significant assets and liabilities that are not considered financial
assets and liabilities include premises and equipment. In addition, the tax ramifications related to
the realization of the unrealized gains and losses can have a significant effect on fair value
estimates and have not been considered in the estimates.

Note 23 Parent Company Only Financial Statements

Balance Sheets

December 31
2021 2020

(In Thousands)
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,183 $ 1,584
Investment in Bank 334,680 312,142
Investment in Veritas 39 39
Other assets 7 8
TOTAL ASSETS $340,909 $313,773

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Liabilities

Subordinated notes $ 17,500 $ 17,500
Other liabilities 756 1,416

Total liabilities 18,256 18,916
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock 85 85
Additional paid-in capital 93,149 92,847
Retained earnings 258,104 221,393
Treasury stock, at cost (32,294) (25,227)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,609 5,759

Total stockholders’ equity 322,653 294,857
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $340,909 $313,773
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Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31
2021 2020 2019

(In Thousands)
Income:

Dividends received from Bank $22,361 $21,406 $16,335
Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 24,687 18,104 11,361
Other income — (7) 234

Total income 47,048 39,503 27,930
Other expenses 2,205 2,005 1,611
Benefit for income taxes (601) (548) (375)
Net income $45,444 $38,046 $26,694
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Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

(In thousands)
Cash flow from operating activities:

Net income $ 45,444 $ 38,046 $ 26,694
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating

activities:
Stock compensation 1,393 1,081 685
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries (includes dividends) (47,048) (39,410) (27,696)
Changes in other assets and liabilities:

Other assets 1 606 (329)
Other liabilities (660) 478 (33)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (870) 801 (679)
Cash flows from investing activities, net of effects of business combination:

Sale of other investments — — 750
Dividends received from Bank 22,360 21,406 16,335
Dividends received from Veritas — 2,121 —
Net cash used in business combination — (4,474) (14,241)
Contribution to subsidiaries — (65) (2,620)

Net cash provided by investing activities 22,360 18,988 224
Cash flows from financing activities, net of effects of business combination:

Repayment of notes payable — (10,000) —
Proceeds from notes payable — — 10,000
Repayment of subordinate notes — (7,122) —
Proceeds from subordinated notes — 6,000 —
Cash dividends paid (8,733) (6,147) (5,463)
Issuance of common stock — 3,368 114
Repurchase of common stock (8,158) (4,367) (4,205)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (16,891) (18,268) 446
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,599 1,521 (9)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 1,584 63 72
Cash and cash equivalents at end $ 6,183 $ 1,584 $ 63

Supplemental schedule of noncash activities:
Amortization of unrealized holding gains on securities transferred from

available for sale to held to maturity recognized in other
comprehensive income, net of tax (2) (81) $ (35)

Change in unrealized gains and losses on investment securities available
for sale, net of tax — 3,756 2,958
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Note 24 Earnings Per Common Share
See Note 1 for the Corporation’s accounting policy regarding per share computations. Earnings
per common share, earnings per share assuming dilution, and related information are summarized
as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Basic
Net income available to common shareholders $ 45,444 $ 38,046 $ 26,694
Less: Earnings allocated to participating securities $ (351) $ (287) $ (200)
Net income allocated to common shareholders $ 45,093 $ 37,759 $ 26,494

Weighted average common shares outstanding including
participating securities 7,680,896 7,497,862 6,820,225

Less: Participating securities (1) (59,264) (56,606) (51,226)
Average shares 7,621,632 7,441,256 6,768,999

Basic earnings per common shares $ 5.92 $ 5.07 $ 3.91

Diluted
Net income available to common shareholders $ 45,444 $ 38,046 $ 26,694

Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic earnings per
common share 7,621,632 7,441,256 6,768,999

Add: Dilutive effects of stock based compensation awards 21,535 39,821 110,385
Average shares and dilutive potential common shares 7,643,167 7,481,077 6,879,384

Diluted earnings per common share $ 5.92 $ 5.07 $ 3.87

Note 25 Quarterly Results of Operations

2021 Quarters Fourth Third Second First

(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)
Interest income $ 25,043 $ 24,898 $ 24,003 $ 24,442
Interest expense 1,812 1,964 2,189 2,339

Net interest and dividend income 23,231 22,934 21,814 22,103
Provision for loan losses 600 650 950 900
Net interest and dividend income after provision

for loan losses 22,631 22,284 20,864 21,203
Noninterest income 5,706 5,028 6,574 6,210
Noninterest expense 13,620 12,466 12,221 12,225

Income before provision for income taxes 14,717 14,846 15,217 15,188
Provision for income taxes 3,553 3,628 3,669 3,674

Net income $ 11,164 $ 11,218 $ 11,548 $ 11,514

Share data
Average shares outstanding, basic 7,570,128 7,605,541 7,653,317 7,657,301
Average shares outstanding, diluted 7,595,052 7,624,791 7,668,740 7,677,976
Earnings per share, basic $ 1.47 $ 1.46 $ 1.50 $ 1.49
Earnings per share, diluted $ 1.47 $ 1.46 $ 1.50 $ 1.49
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2020 Quarters Fourth Third Second First

(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)
Interest income $ 27,094 $ 25,928 $ 24,382 $ 23,296
Interest expense 2,623 3,003 3,586 4,653

Net interest and dividend income 24,471 22,925 20,796 18,643
Provision for loan losses 1,650 1,350 3,150 975
Net interest and dividend income after provision

for loan losses 22,821 21,575 17,646 17,668
Noninterest income 6,744 5,115 7,764 3,897
Noninterest expense 13,972 12,202 14,438 12,741

Income before provision for income taxes 15,593 14,488 10,972 8,824
Provision for income taxes 4,063 3,534 2,676 1,558

Net income $ 11,530 $ 10,954 $ 8,296 $ 7,266

Share data
Average shares outstanding, basic 7,659,904 7,673,572 7,395,199 7,028,690
Average shares outstanding, diluted 7,682,101 7,691,326 7,405,995 7,128,246
Earnings per share, basic $ 1.49 $ 1.42 $ 1.11 $ 1.03
Earnings per share, diluted $ 1.49 $ 1.42 $ 1.11 $ 1.02

Note 26 Pending Merger Transaction
On January 18, 2022, the Corporation entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with
Denmark Bancshares, Inc. (“Denmark”), a Wisconsin Corporation, under which Denmark will
merge with and into the Corporation and Denmark’s banking subsidiary, Denmark State Bank, will
merge with and into the Bank. The transaction is expected to close during the third quarter of 2022
and is subject to, among other items, approval by the shareholders of both institutions and
regulatory agencies. Merger consideration will consist of up to 20% cash and no less than 80% of
common stock of the Corporation, and will total approximately $119 million, subject to the fair
market value of the Corporation’s common stock on the date of closing. Based on results as of
December 31, 2021, the combined company would have total assets of approximately
$3.6 billion, loans of approximately $2.7 billion, and deposits of approximately $3.1 billion.
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